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Darren M. Richie (SBN 316116) 
darren@richielitigation.com 
Bobby Doustkam (SBN 248830) 
bobby@richielitigation.com 
Jeffrey Elkrief (SBN 321030) 
jeffrey@richielitigation.com 
RICHIE LITIGATION, P.C. 
US Bank Tower, 67th Floor 
633 W. 5th Street, Suite 6780 
Los Angeles, CA 90071 
Tel: (213) 265-7888 
Fax: (844) 314-1380 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff Mark Signa 

 

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF SANTA BARBARA 

 
MARK SIGNA, an individual, 
 
 Plaintiff, 
 
     v. 
 
 
THE REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF 
CALIFORNIA, a public entity; UNIVERSITY OF 
CALIFORNIA, SANTA BARBARA POLICE 
CHIEF DUSTIN OLSON, in his official and 
individual capacity; and DOES 1 through 20 
inclusive, 
 
 Defendants. 
 
 

Case No.:  
 
COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES: 
 

1. VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1983 
FOR DENIAL OF FIRST 
AMENDMENT RIGHTS; 

2. VIOLATION OF CALIFORNIA 
WHISTLEBLOWER 
PROTECTION ACT; 

3. NEGLIGENT INFLICTION OF 
EMOTIONAL DISTRESS; AND 

4. VIOLATION OF CALIFORNIA 
LABOR CODE 1102.5 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

ELECTRONICALLY FILED
Superior Court of California
County of Santa Barbara
Darrel E. Parker, Executive Officer
11/21/2018 9:07 AM
By: Narzralli Baksh, Deputy

18CV05728
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Plaintiff Mark Signa by and through his attorneys of record, brings this Complaint against the 

above-named Defendants, and in support alleges as follows: 

PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff Mark Signa (“Signa” or “Plaintiff”), is an individual and is now, and at all times 

mentioned in this complaint was, a resident of Santa Barbara County, California. 

2. Defendant The Regents of the University of California (“UC Regents”) was and is a 

public entity organized pursuant to the California Constitution and existing under the laws of the State of 

California. It governs the ten (10) University of California campuses, including the University of  

California, Santa Barbara (“UCSB”) and the University of California Police Department, Santa Barbara 

Police Department (“UCSB-PD”). Defendant UC Regents is the legal party-in-interest for purposes of 

filing claims against UCSB and has the “power to sue and be sued” under that authority. Cal. Const. art. 

9, § 9(f). UCSB is located in Santa Barbara, California, which is within the jurisdiction of this Court. 

3. Plaintiff sues Does 1 through 20, inclusive, herein under fictitious names. Plaintiff does 

not know their true names and capacities. When Plaintiff ascertains the Doe Defendants’ true names and 

capacities, Plaintiff will amend this Complaint by inserting their true names and capacities. Plaintiff is 

informed and believes, and on the basis of that information and belief alleges that each Defendant 

named herein as a Doe acted with the other Defendants and is responsible for the damages to Plaintiff 

herein alleged.  Each reference in this complaint to Defendants, or to any of them, also refers to all 

Defendants sued under fictitious names. 

4. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on the basis of that information and belief alleges 

that each of the Defendants sued herein are the agents, servants, employees, licensees, guarantees, 

invitees, or assignees of each other, and in doing the things herein alleged acted within the course and 

scope of such agency, employment guaranty, assignment, license, invitation and/or relationship and with 

the full knowledge and consent of the other. 

5. At all relevant times mentioned herein, Defendants aided and abetted the acts and 

omissions of the other Defendants in proximately causing the damages alleged herein.   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

6. Jurisdiction and venue are proper in this Court pursuant to Section 410.10 of the Code of  
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Civil Procedure and Section 395(a) of the Code of Civil Procedure because all of the claims alleged 

herein arose in Santa Barbara County. 

7. The amount in controversy in this matter exceeds the sum of $25,000, exclusive of 

interest and costs. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

8. Plaintiff Mark Signa currently works for the UC Regents, employed as a Lieutenant in 

the University of California at Santa Barbara Police Department.  

9. UCSB-PD hired Signa in 1990, and Signa has been continuously employed by UCSB-PD 

for twenty-eight (28) years. 

10. Signa has a stellar record of performance and service at UCSB-PD. He is deeply 

passionate and committed to the service he provides for the community and has always prioritized 

integrity and professionalism in his role as a public officer. 

11. In or around August 2012, UCSB-PD hired Officer Ryan Smith (“Smith”), as well as two 

of Smith’s colleagues from his previous employment, Officers Jeff Savaglio (“Savaglio”) and Josh 

Rothermel (“Rothermel”). 

12. Within UCSB-PD, the hierarchy, beginning at the highest level of authority, is as follows: 

Chief of Police, Assistant Chief of Police, Lieutenant, Sergeant, Corporal, Officer. 

13. As a Sergeant, Signa was Smith’s supervisor at the UCSB-PD.  

14. In or around April 6, 2014, Signa was promoted to Lieutenant, and Smith was promoted 

to Sergeant. 

15. In or around 2014, on information and belief, Smith had become close personal friends 

with Chief of Police Dustin Olson (“Chief Olson”), Lieutenant David Millard (“Lt. Millard”), and 

Sergeant Robert Romero (“Sgt. Romero”).  

16. Throughout In or around 2014, Signa began to receive various complaints from other 

UCSB-PD officers regarding Smith’s questionable conduct and behavior, including but not limited to 

Smith’s favored treatment on the basis of his close friendships with the highest echelons of the UCSB- 

PD. 

17. As Smith’s supervisor, Signa communicated to Smith his concerns about Smith’s conduct  
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and behavior, as well as some of the other officers’ concerns.  

18. Smith rebuffed such concerns, refusing to adjust his behavior.  

19. Chief Olson, Assistant Chief of Police Cathy Farley (“Asst. Chief Farley”), Lt. Millard 

and Sgt. Romero insulated Smith from Signa’s and others’ criticisms. 

The Botched 2016 Investigation 

20. In or around April 2016, a complaint against Savaglio and Rothermel was filed, alleging 

sexual assault and the provision of alcohol to a minor student of the University of California, Santa 

Barbara (“2016 IA Complaint”). 

21. On information and belief, Smith was a close friend of Savaglio and Rothermel and was 

intimately familiar with their interactions and behavior with the student victim in the 2016 IA 

Complaint. 

22. Based on the allegations in the 2016 IA Complaint, UCSB-PD initiated an Internal 

Affairs (“IA”) investigation.  

23. Signa is informed and believes, and on the basis of that information and belief alleges 

that, because of Smith’s relationships with the highest levels of the UCSB-PD, Smith was protected 

from being identified in the IA investigation, and other officers of the UCSB-PD perceived Smith’s 

favored and protected status as well. 

24. In or around May 29, 2016, Signa is informed and believes, and on the basis of that 

information and belief alleges that Lt. Millard advised Savaglio and Rothermel to resign in order to 

avoid a potentially negative outcome of the IA investigation that might bar them from working as police 

officers again. 

25. Savaglio and Rothermel resigned, and as a result, the portion of the IA investigation 

involving Savaglio and Rothermel was closed. 

26. Signa is informed and believes, and on the basis of that information and belief alleges 

that the IA investigation should have been completed, even after the officers in question resigned. 

27. Despite Smith’s relationship with Savaglio, Rothermel and the student victim in the 2016  

IA Complaint, his involvement with the officers’ actions and role in the incidents was never 

investigated or even associated with the IA investigation. 
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28. During several meetings, Chief Olson openly expressed that he desired the 2016 IA 

Complaint to go away as quietly as possible. 

Retaliation Against Signa 

29. Increasingly, officers brought complaints about Smith and the favoritism among Chief 

Olson, Asst. Chief Farley, Lt. Millard and Sgt. Romero but expressed that they were afraid and/or 

discouraged from vocalizing any complaints regarding Smith and the above individuals for fear of the 

negative consequences the officers would suffer as a result.  

30. In short, other officers feared retaliation against them for voicing their concerns about the 

improper and possibly unlawful behavior and conduct of Smith. Other officers therefore confided in 

Signa. 

31. Signa vocalized his concerns about the impropriety or appearance of impropriety of a 

“Good Old Boys’ Club” through which favored UCSB-PD officers, such as Smith, seemed immune 

from any negative or critical feedback and disciplinary action. 

32. In or around August 2016, Chief Olson, Asst. Chief Farley, Lt. Millard and Sgt. Romero 

met with Signa for lunch, during which Sgt. Romero attacked Signa’s position as Patrol Lieutenant, 

stating that the other sergeants were upset with Signa’s leadership style and were contemplating a vote 

of no confidence in Signa. 

33. Following the lunch, Signa met with each of the approximately six sergeants, other than 

Sgt. Romero and Smith, in UCSB-PD. None of the sergeants expressed discontent with Signa’s 

leadership nor did any of the sergeants have any desire to submit a vote of no confidence against Signa.  

34. Several sergeants expressed that Sgt. Romero made such misleading and critical 

comments to Signa in retaliation for Signa’s vocalization of concerns regarding Smith’s questionable 

and possibly unlawful conduct and behavior. 

35. Shortly after the lunch, Signa was transferred from Patrol Lieutenant to Administrative 

Lieutenant. On information and belief, Signa learned of the transfer after other employees were already  

informed about it.  

36. Although the position transfer from Patrol to Administrative Lieutenant was technically 

lateral and not a demotion, Signa as well as other officers of UCSB-PD perceived the transfer as a  



 

COMPLAINT 
6 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

punishment against Signa for not “falling in line” with the “Good Ole Boys’ Club.”  

The Botched 2017 Investigation 

37. In or around September 2017, Corporal Tiffany Little (“Cpl. Little”) of the UCSB-PD 

submitted a letter of complaint alleging improper and possibly unlawful conduct by Smith (“2017 IA 

Complaint”). 

38. The 2017 IA Complaint included, but was not limited to, the following allegations: 

• Smith was having an extra-marital affair with a subordinate Officer, Amanda Siegel 

(“Siegel”), who was new to the force and therefore on probation; 

• Smith covered up for Siegel’s automobile accident which occurred while she was driving 

a UCSB-PD vehicle on campus; 

• On information and belief, Smith was involved in a hit-and-run automobile accident, 

where Smith hit a parked vehicle with a UCSB-PD vehicle. Another officer witnessed 

this accident but was fearful of reporting due to the favoritism exhibited towards Smith 

by the highest authorities in the UCSB-PD; 

• While traveling with two other vehicles in Los Angeles, Smith ordered the two vehicles 

to utilize Code 3 (utilizing full lights and sirens) to get through heavy traffic for the 

purpose of attending a free breakfast; and 

• While on assignment at the University of California, San Francisco, Smith used UCSB-

PD resources to visit Siegel in Santa Cruz. 

39. Smith’s close friend, Lt. Millard, was assigned to conduct the IA investigation of the 

2017 IA Complaint.  

40. Lt. Millard expressed to Signa that he was concerned about how the IA investigation 

might affect his friendship with Smith. 

41. Signa was prohibited from any and all involvement in the IA investigation of the 2017 IA 

Complaint, despite the fact that the allegations within said complaint arose during the time Signa was  

supervising Smith. 

42. Beginning in or around mid-2017, Smith went on leave.  

43. In or around November 2017, on information and belief, several officers complained of  
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experiencing anxiety and fear of Sgt. Smith and reluctance to report Sgt. Smith due to management’s 

favoritism of him. 

44. Smith’s leave was a paid leave, and Smith joked that he was taking a paid vacation. 

45. On information and belief, Smith was encouraged to find alternative employment and, by 

the end of 2017, was hired by the California Governor’s Office of Emergency Services (“CalOES”). In 

several meetings, Chief Olson, AC Farley and Lt. Millard said having Smith get the alternate position 

was the easiest solution to the issues the department was facing, while repeatedly acknowledging the 

problems Smith caused at previous meetings.   

46. The IA investigation was closed just prior to Smith’s departure from the UCSB-PD at the 

end of 2017. It was done quickly as to not impede his ability to get the job at CalOES. 

47. On information and belief, the IA investigation into the 2017 IA Complaint was woefully 

inadequate; key witnesses and relevant officers were not interviewed, including Cpl. Little, who had 

written and submitted said complaint. 

48. Smith was taken out to a celebratory farewell lunch and continued to visit the UCSB-PD 

to have lunch and “hang out” with Chief Olson, Lt. Millard and Sgt. Romero after his departure, much to 

the offense of many of the other officers. On information and belief, Smith attended the UCSB-PD 

swearing in of three new officers that occurred at the Allen Hancock Police Academy.  He then went to 

lunch with the members of the PD including Olson, Farley, Millard and Romero. 

Further Retaliation Against Signa 

49. Signa’s refusal to “fall in line” with the “Good Ole Boys’ Club” of Chief Olson, Asst. 

Chief Farley, Lt. Millard, Sgt. Romero and Smith and his willingness to vocalize concerns about the 

propriety, integrity and accountability of Smith and the UCSB-PD in general made him a victim of 

harassment, discrimination and retaliation within the UCSB-PD. 

50. Signa’s vocalized concerns included, but was not limited to, the following:  

• “Dick jokes” that were made during meetings particularly on or about May 21, 2017 in  

front of female officers and staff; 

• Smith’s improper use of UCSB-PD funds and resources; 

• Smith’s impunity and insulation from any form of disciplinary action; 
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• Supervisor meetings that would last for five or more hours, when they should only last 

about 2-3 hours; 

• Approval of expenses and travel for members of the “Good Old Boys’ Club” in or around 

January 17, 2017, but not for those excluded from such club; 

51. Signa reported these concerns to Chief Olson and Asst. Chief Farley. 

52. Signa is informed and believes, and on the basis of that information and belief alleges 

that other officers in the UCSB-PD agreed with and supported the content of Signa’s vocalized 

concerns. 

53. Signa is informed and believes, and on the basis of that information and belief alleges 

that other officers in the UCSB-PD perceived that Signa was retaliated and discriminated against 

because of his vocalized concerns. 

54. Signa is informed and believes, and on the basis of that information and belief alleges 

that many other officers in the UCSB-PD did not share their concerns with Lt. Millard, whom they 

perceived as part of and protected by the “Good Ole Boys’ Club.” 

55. Retaliation and discrimination against Signa included, but was not limited to, the 

following: 

• Not being included in key meetings that were necessary for Signa to perform his job 

duties effectively; 

• No longer being able to email Chief Olson directly without alerting Asst. Chief Farley, 

but simultaneously being criticized for not communicating sufficiently with Chief Olson; 

• Being pushed “out of the loop” and provided conflicting information so that Signa is 

hindered from performing his job duties effectively; 

• Major changes in protocol, such as how monthly on-call duty is assigned, occurred 

without Signa’s knowledge; 

• Bullying, harassing, publicly criticizing and blaming Signa in front of other officers and  

for unfounded reasons; 

• Being falsely accused of creating conflict and discomfort among officers; 

• Being required to attend “check-in” meetings with Asst. Chief Farley, during which  
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Signa received contradictory directives and conflicting information; 

• Being excluded from UCSB-PD social events; 

• Resistance by Chief Olson to meet privately with Signa, and acquiescense to such a 

meeting only after multiple emails and contacts from Signa; 

• Being excluded from leadership, promotional and learning opportunities, which were 

available to Lt. Millard; and 

• Being pressured to resign early. 

No Response from the University 

56. On or around May 31, 2018, Signa made a formal complaint with Human Resources 

regarding his departmental concerns and the retaliation he faced for trying to voice them. He met with 

Cynthia Seneriz who told Signa that she would have someone follow up with him about his concerns 

and retaliation. 

57. Beginning on or around June 1, 2018, Signa went on stress leave. 

58. On or around June 11, 2018, Signa was contact by Jessica Graham who interviewed 

Signa and followed up with a phone call a few days later. Graham informed Signa that she would inform 

him about the status of his complaint. To date, Signa has not heard back from Seneriz or Graham. 

59. On June 19, 2018, Signa submitted two internal whistleblower complaints through the 

University of California, Santa Barbara system. To date, Signa has not received a response concerning 

those complaints either. 

60. Signa is informed and believes, and on the basis of that information and belief alleges 

that, in or around August 2018, several officers in the UCSB-PD submitted internal whistleblower 

complaints similar to those of Signa filed on June 19, 2018. Upon information and belief, those officers 

were also being retaliated against for reporting UCSB-PD’s failure to investigate claims, cronyism and 

retaliation. 

61. Upon information and belief, the internal whistleblower complaints have ignited 

additional backlash against Signa. On or around the morning of September 17, 2018, Signa’s wife 

received a telephone call from what turned out to be a spoofed number. A male caller requested to speak 

to Signa. When Signa’s wife informed the caller that it was her phone number, the male threatened  
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“Sorry, wrong number. Tell Mark Signa to watch out.” Signa promptly reported this threat to the police. 

62. Based on the foregoing, Signa has suffered damages in an amount to be proven at trial. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1983—DENIAL OF FIRST AMENDMENT RIGHTS  

(Against All Defendants) 

63. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 

1-62 of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.   

64. By the plain terms of 42 U.S.C. § 1983, two—and only two—allegations are required in 

order to state a cause of action under that statute. First, the plaintiff must allege that some person has 

deprived him of a federal right. Second, he must allege that the person who has deprived him of that 

right acted under color of state or territorial law.” (Catsouras v. Department of California Highway 

Patrol (2010) 181 Cal.App.4th 856, 890). 

65. At all times relevant herein, Signa was employed by Defendant UC Regents as a 

University of California, Santa Barbara lieutenant police officer. Since the University of California is 

public university of the state of California, it is considered an arm of the state. UCSB-PD was acting 

under color of state law, i.e. under color of one or more statutes, ordinances, regulations, customs, and 

policies of the State of California, when its officers’ actions deprived of due process of law, the equal 

protection of the laws, or rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the First Amendment to the United 

States Constitution and laws of the United States. 

66. When Signa spoke out about UCSB-PD’s failure to investigate Smith and its failure to 

investigate Siegel, he was exercising his First Amendment right to keep the public informed of the 

misuse of public property and funds. 

67. By failing to investigate the inappropriate behavior of Olson’s cronies and retaliating 

against Signa for trying to bring these indiscretions to the attention of the UCSB- PD furthered no 

legitimate law enforcement purpose and instead violated the public trust, which Signa had a First 

Amendment right to speak out about.  

68. UCSB-PD’s conduct alleged herein has legally, proximately, foreseeably and actually 

caused Signa to suffer loss of financial stability, peace of mind and future security, and to suffer 
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embarrassment, shock, humiliation, mental and emotional pain, distress and discomfort, as well as 

disgrace and loss of self-esteem, all to his detriment and damage in amounts not fully ascertained but 

within the jurisdiction of this Court and subject to proof at the time of trial. 

69. Signa is also entitled to costs and attorneys’ fees, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

VIOLATION OF THE CALIFORNIA WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTION ACT 

(Against All Defendants) 

70. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 

1- 69 of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.   

71. Pursuant to Cal. § 8547, et seq., also known as the California Whistleblower Act, it is 

unlawful for an employer to discriminate or otherwise take adverse employment action against an 

employee who in engages in protected activity or reports an action(s) they believe to be a violation of 

state or federal law. 

72. At all times relevant herein, Signa was an employee of Defendant UC Regents, employed 

by UCSB-PD. 

73. When Signa informed UCSB-PD about his concerns of how investigations into officer 

misconduct were being mishandled or not thoroughly or properly investigated, UCSB-PD began a 

harassment campaign against Signa, bullying him and shutting Signa out of important meetings and 

email chains, hindering his ability to perform his job. 

74. As a consequence of the months of retaliation Signa faced, he developed severe stress 

and anxiety, to the point where he had to go out on stress leave. 

75. As a result of UCSB-PD’s retaliatory actions, Signa has been damaged in an amount to 

be proven at trial. 

76. Signa also seeks statutory attorneys’ fees. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

NEGLIGENT INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS 

(Against All Defendants) 

77. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs  
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1-76 of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.   

78. The UC Regents, including the UCSB-PD, owe a duty of reasonable care to its 

employees. 

79. UCSB-PD was aware of its failure to investigate the illegal actions of Smith and aware 

that it was retaliating against Signa for demanding that an investigation be performed. 

80. Chief Olson failed to address the harassment and hostile work environment created by 

Millard and Farley in an effective, prompt or remedial manner. A reasonably careful person in Chief 

Olson’s position would have done so. 

81. Beginning in or around December 2017, UCSB-PD personnel, including Chief Olson, 

began to make it excessively difficult and burdensome for Signa to communicate with the Chief and 

began denying him access to staff meetings and freezing him out of important email chains. In addition 

to Signa being singled out and ignored, Millard and Farley generally treated Signa with hostility and 

antagonism. 

82. Defendants’ negligence was a substantial factor in causing Signa to suffer ongoing 

serious emotional distress, so much so that Signa was forced to go on stress leave on or around June 

2018. As of the time of the filing of this Complaint, Signa’s doctor has still not cleared him to return to 

work. 

83. As a further direct and proximate result of the negligence of Defendants, Signa has 

suffered loss of financial stability, peace of mind and future security, and has suffered embarrassment, 

shock, humiliation, mental and emotional pain, distress and discomfort, as well as disgrace and loss of 

self-esteem, all to his detriment and damage in amounts not fully ascertained but within the jurisdiction 

of the Court and subject to proof at the time of trial. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

VIOLATION OF CAL. LABOR CODE §1102.5 

(Against All Defendants) 

83. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs  

1-82 of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.   

84. Pursuant to Cal. Labor Code §1102.5, an employer cannot prevent or retaliate against an  
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employee for disclosing to government or law enforcement agency when employee has reasonable cause 

to believe there's a violation. 

85. At all times relevant herein, Signa was employed by the UC Regents as a police officer 

with the UCSB-PD.  

86. In or around 2017, Signa begin to complain to Chief Olson and other high-ranking 

members of the UCSB-PD, such as Farley, Millard and Romero, about the improper and incomplete 

investigations into claims of officer misconduct, specifically that of officer Smith. 

87. UCSB-PD began to ignore Signa’s complaints and did nothing to investigate Smith. In 

fact, they begin to try to close and divert investigations into Smith’s conduct and behavior. 

88. When Signa continued to insist on a proper and thorough investigation, Olson, Farley, 

Millard and Romero began to harass and bully Signa, doing such things as implementing arbitrary rules 

which denied him access to Chief Olson, and excluding him from meetings and emails that were 

necessary for Signa to perform his job functions. 

89. Defendants’ negligence was a substantial factor in causing Signa to suffer ongoing 

serious emotional distress, so much so that Signa was forced to go on stress leave on or around June 

2018. As of the time of the filing of this Complaint, Signa’s doctor has still not cleared him to return to 

work. 

90. As a further direct and proximate result of the negligence of Defendants, Signa has 

suffered loss of financial stability, peace of mind and future security, and has suffered embarrassment, 

shock, humiliation, mental and emotional pain, distress and discomfort, as well as disgrace and loss of 

self-esteem, all to his detriment and damage in amounts not fully ascertained but within the jurisdiction  

of the Court and subject to proof at the time of trial. 

PRAYER 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Mark Signa prays for judgment as follows:  

On the First Cause of Action:  

1. For compensatory damages in an amount to be determined according to proof at trial;  

2. For special damages in an amount to be determined according to proof at trial; 

3. For costs of suit and attorneys’ fees as provided by statute 42 U.S.C. § 1988; 
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On the Second Cause of Action: 

1. For compensatory damages in an amount to be determined according to proof at trial;

2. For special damages in an amount to be determined according to proof at trial;

3. For punitive and exemplary damages in an amount to be determined according to proof at

trial, but in an amount sufficient to punish and deter similar conduct in the future:

4. For costs of suit and attorneys’ fees as provided by statute 42 U.S.C. § 1988;

On the Third Cause of Action: 

1. For compensatory damages in an amount to be determined according to proof at trial;

2. For special damages in an amount to be determined according to proof at trial;

3. For punitive and exemplary damages in an amount to be determined according to proof at

trial, but in an amount sufficient to punish and deter similar conduct in the future;

On the Fourth Cause of Action: 

1. For compensatory damages in an amount to be determined according to proof at trial;

2. For special damages in an amount to be determined according to proof at trial;

On All Causes of Action: 

1. For costs of suit herein incurred; and

2. For such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper.

Dated: November 14, 2018 RICHIE LITIGATION, P.C. 

By: __________________________ 
Darren M. Richie 
Bobby Doustkam 
Jeffrey Elkrief 
Attorneys for Plaintiff Mark Signa



ELECTRONICALLY FILED
Superior Court of California
County of Santa Barbara
Darrel E. Parker, Executive Officer
11/21/2018 9:07 AM
By: Narzralli Baksh, Deputy

18CV05728
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ATTORNEY FOR (NAME): 

FOR COURT USE ONLY 

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF SANTA BARBARA 

 Santa Barbara–Anacapa 
1100 Anacapa Street 

Santa Barbara, CA  93101 

 Santa Maria-Cook 
312-C East Cook Street
Santa Maria, CA  93454

 Lompoc Division 
115 Civic Center Plaza 

Lompoc, CA  93436 

PLAINTIFF:    

DEFENDANT:  

CIVIL CASE COVER SHEET ADDENDUM 
CASE NUMBER: 

Santa Barbara County Superior Court Local Rule, rule 201 divides Santa Barbara County geographically into two 
separate regions referred to as “South County” and “North County,” the boundaries of which are more particularly 
defined in rule 201.  “South County” includes the cities of Carpinteria, Santa Barbara, and Goleta; “North County” 
includes the cities of Santa Maria, Lompoc, Buellton and Solvang.  A map depicting this geographical division is 
contained in Appendix 1 to the local rules. 

Local Rule 203 provides: “When, under California law, ‘North County’ would be a ‘proper county’ for venue purposes, 
all filings for such matters shall be in the appropriate division of the Clerk’s office in North County.  All other filings 
shall be made in the Clerk’s office in the appropriate division of the Court in South County.  The title of the Court 
required to be placed on the first page of documents pursuant to CRC 2.111 includes the name of the appropriate 
Court division.” 

A plaintiff filing a new complaint or petition is required by Local Rule 1310 to complete and file this Civil Case Cover 
Sheet Addendum to state the basis for filing in North County or South County. 

The undersigned represents to the Court: 

This action is filed in    North County    South County   because venue is proper in this region for the following 
reason(s):  

  A defendant resides or has its principal place of business in this region at:   ____________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

  The personal injury, damage to property, or breach of contract that is claimed in the complaint occurred in this 

region at: ___________________________________________________________________________________ 

  There is a related case filed with the court in this region (e.g., the related personal injury action to a petition to 

transfer structured settlement payments) [identify case, including case number]:  ___________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 Venue is otherwise proper in this region because [explain]:  _________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Dated:  
Signature of Plaintiff or Plaintiff’s Counsel 

Jeffrey Elkrief (SBN: 321030)
Richie Litigation
633 W. 5th Street, Suite 6780
Los Angeles, CA 90071

Plaintiff, Mark Signa

Mark Signa

The Regents of the University of California, a public entity; et al.

UC Santa Barbara,
Santa Barbara, California 93106

November 20, 2018

ELECTRONICALLY FILED
Superior Court of California
County of Santa Barbara
Darrel E. Parker, Executive Officer
11/21/2018 9:07 AM
By: Narzralli Baksh, Deputy

18CV05728
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Superior Court of California 
County of Santa Barbara 

 

CADRe 
 

(Court-Administered Dispute Resolution) 
 

Program Information 
 

DO YOU HAVE A PENDING CIVIL CASE? 
 
This brochure explains the Santa Barbara Superior Court’s CADRe Program. CADRe is the 
Court’s Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) office. CADRe is not a lawyer referral 
service nor an investigative or enforcement agency and CADRe staff cannot give legal 
advice. 
 
CADRe typically becomes involved in a civil case after the judge refers the case to the program 
at the first Case Management Conference. CADRe offers litigants a variety of options to enable 
faster resolution of civil disputes. 
 
WHY DOES THE COURT SUGGEST ADR? 
 
ADR can be speedier and less costly than litigation. It can permit more participation by the 
litigants and more flexibility in finding ways to resolve a dispute, resulting in greater satisfaction 
with the outcome. 
 
ADR is not appropriate for every case, however. It requires the parties to cooperate with each 
other to end the dispute. It may not be effective if it occurs before the parties have sufficient 
information to resolve the dispute. There are usually costs associated with using an ADR 
process and timing guidelines to consider. 
 
SMALL CLAIMS & CIVIL HARASSMENT CASES 
 
The court offers mediation of Small Claims and Civil Harassment Restraining Order cases 
through the Conflict Solutions Center. Any party to a Small Claims or Civil Harassment 
Restraining Order case can request mediation by calling the Conflict Solutions Center office in 
Santa Barbara at (805) 963-6765 or in Santa Maria at (805) 349-8943. 
 
ACCESSING THE CADRe PROGRAM 
 
Before the initial 120-day Case Management Conference (CMC), counsel and their clients are 
expected to discuss ADR options for the case and complete the Case Management Statement 
[CM110]. This form must be served on the other parties and filed with the court no later than 
(15) calendar days prior to the CMC [refer CRC 3.725]. 
 
Referrals to CADRe are usually made at the CMC. The nature of any referral to CADRe will 
depend on the judge’s determination of the amount in controversy at the CMC. If this amount 
does not exceed $50,000.00, the judge may order the case to “Limited Mediation.” If the amount 
in controversy exceeds $50,000.00, the judge may order the case to “CMADRESS.” 
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Whatever the judge orders regarding ADR, the parties can go directly to the CADRe office, or 
call CADRe at 805-882-4661 for a brief conference. CADRe staff will discuss ADR options and 
explain program procedures to allow the parties to comply with the judge’s order. 
 
WHAT IS “CMADRESS?” 
 
As of July 2005, the civil departments countywide have implemented “CMADRESS” [Case 
Management Alternative Dispute Resolution Early Settlement Session]. If the judge so orders, 
trial counsel and their clients will be required to attend an early settlement session with a 
neutral assigned by the CADRe office, usually within 90 days of the date of the judge’s order. 
The neutral will address the potential benefits of ADR for the case and begin efforts at early 
settlement if indicated. Contact the CADRe office for more information about CMADRESS. 
 
CASES INVOLVING $50,000.00 OR LESS 
 
If the amount in controversy in the case is $50,000.00 or less (CCP §1141), CADRe offers: 
 
Limited Mediation (In Lieu of Judicial Arbitration): Per Local Rule 1102, cases with an 
amount in controversy of $50,000.00 or less that are subject to Judicial Arbitration may instead 
elect or be ordered to Limited Mediation by the judge. 
 
The CADRe office will assign a mediator to the case, usually with input from the parties. CADRe 
staff can explain the assignment procedure to you. The first three (3) hours of mediation are 
provided free of charge to the parties (the court pays the mediator for this time period). 
Thereafter, the mediator may charge the parties an hourly rate. 
 
 
NOTE: For Limited Mediation, you must always contact the CADRe office first for CADRe 
to assign a mediator to the case. If you contact a mediator independently without 
obtaining an LM assignment sheet from the CADRe office first, then you will be expected 
to pay the mediator’s market hourly rate. 
 
 
Next, you must contact the assigned mediator and set a mutually-agreeable date for the 
mediation with all participants and the mediator. CADRe staff does not schedule the 
mediation. Finally, you must deliver to the CADRe office (fax is acceptable as long as the entire 
document is legible) a completed Stipulation and Order to ADR Process form [SC2038]. Please 
be sure to include the mediation date information (Item 3). The stipulation form is 
incomplete without this date, and CADRe cannot file the form until it is complete. Contact 
CADRe for help with the stipulation form. 
 
CASES INVOLVING OVER $50,000.00 IN CONTROVERSY (OR AT YOUR OPTION) 

 
If all parties agree on an ADR process you then select a neutral person to conduct the process. 
 
CADRe maintains five separate panels of neutrals, but you are free to use a non-CADRe neutral 
if you wish. Comprehensive information on CADRe panelists (including their backgrounds, 
qualifications, and styles of practice) is available on the CADRe website at www.sbcadre.org 
OR at the CADRe office. CADRe does not schedule the ADR process. You then contact the 
neutral and arrange a mutually-agreeable date for the ADR process, and then deliver to the 
CADRe Office (by fax is acceptable if the entire document is legible) a completed Stipulation 
and Order to ADR Process form [SC2038]. Please be sure to include the process date 
information (Item 3). The stipulation form is incomplete without this date, and CADRe cannot 
file the form until it is complete. Contact CADRe for help with the stipulation form. 
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Unless otherwise agreed, litigants will share the cost of the neutral they select. 
 
If the amount in controversy in the case exceeds $50,000.00, CADRe offers: 
 
CADRe Mediation: The mediator you select helps you negotiate a mutually-acceptable 
resolution to the case. The mediator does not impose a decision on you, but rather assists you 
in exploring options for resolution, typically focusing on the parties' interests. The disputants 
retain total control of the outcome. 
 
Mediation is a confidential process (Evidence Code §1115-1128). Statements made in 
mediation cannot be repeated in court. The mediator does not communicate with the court 
except to file a Statement of Agreement or Non-Agreement (Form ADR-100). 
 
Neutral Evaluation (NE): The neutral you select evaluates the claims and supporting evidence. 
and offers an assessment of the merits of the case. The evaluator can clarify the central issues 
in dispute, assist with discovery and motion planning, or with an informal exchange of key 
information, or even facilitate settlement discussions when requested by the parties. These 
assessments are not binding, however, equipped with this information, cases frequently settle 
within a short time after the NE. 
 
Binding Arbitration: The neutral you select hears the evidence in your case, makes a 
determination, and issues an award. Binding arbitration is final. It brings closure with very few 
rights of appeal. 
 
Special Master: The neutral you select works with you to customize an appropriate dispute 
resolution process to meet your particular needs. Special Master processes can include: 
settlement conferences with a member of our Settlement Master panel, Discovery Referees to 
assist in resolving discovery disputes in complex cases, Judges Pro Tem to serve as 
adjudicators, Private Judges for private mini-trials, or any custom process the parties choose to 
design. 
 
TIMING GUIDELINES, CODES & RULES 
 
Under Local Rule 1102, parties are to complete and return the ADR Stipulation to the CADRe 
office within ten (10) days of either the CADRe conference or the Case Management 
Conference where the judge referred the case to the CADRe program. 
 
The ADR process should be completed within sixty (60) days after filing the ADR stipulation 
unless otherwise permitted by the judge. 
 
Within ten (10) days after the final ADR session, the neutral will file a Statement of Agreement 
or Non-Agreement (Form ADR-100) with the court via the CADRe office, and will serve it on all 
parties [refer CRC 3.895]. 
 
NOTE: It is the mediator’s sole responsibility to serve the ADR-100 document on the 
parties and file the original with the court. The parties are not responsible for serving or 
filing the ADR-100, but they must still file the usual settlement documents if the 
mediation ends in agreement [CRC 3.1385]. The mediator’s ADR-100 does not take the 
place of the parties’ Notice of Settlement or Request for Dismissal. 
 
Parties in mediation retain the right to obtain discovery to the extent available under the Civil 
Discovery Act of 1986 (CCP §1775.11). 
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Mediation is a confidential process. Statements made in mediation cannot be repeated in court. 
(CA Evidence Code §1115-1128). Mediation briefs should ONLY be sent to the mediator 
and NOT filed with the court (CA Evidence Code §1119).  
 
MEDIATION ATTENDANCE 
 
CALIFORNIA RULES OF COURT, RULE 3.894 
(APPEARANCE AT MEDIATION SESSIONS) 
 
All parties and attorneys of record must attend all mediation sessions in person unless excused 
or permitted to attend by telephone as provided in (3). If a party is not a natural person, a 
representative of that party with authority to resolve the dispute or, in the case of a 
governmental entity that requires an agreement to be approved by an elected official or a 
legislative body, a representative with authority to recommend such agreement, must attend all 
mediation sessions in person, unless excused or permitted to attend by telephone as provided 
in (3).  (2) If any party is insured under a policy of insurance that provides or may provide 
coverage for a claim that is a subject of the action, a representative of the insurer with authority 
to settle or recommend settlement of the claim must attend all mediation sessions in person, 
unless excused or permitted to attend by telephone as provided in (3).  (3) The mediator may 
excuse a party, attorney, or representative from the requirement to attend a mediation session 
under (1) or (2) or permit attendance by telephone. The party, attorney, or representative who is 
excused or permitted to attend by telephone must promptly send a letter or an electronic 
communication to the mediator and to all parties confirming the excuse or permission. (4) Each 
party may have counsel present at all mediation sessions that concern the party. (Subd (a) 
amended effective January 1, 2007; adopted as untitled subd effective, March 1, 1994.) 
 
SANTA BARBARA SUPERIOR COURT CADRe RULE 
 
SANTA BARBARA SUPERIOR COURT, RULE 1102 
COURT ADMINISTERED DISPUTE RESOLUTION (CADRe) 
 
a. [Service and Filing]  As part of the service and proof of service of complaints, the plaintiff(s) 
shall include a copy of the Court Administered Dispute Resolution (CADRe) Program 
Information and a Stipulation and Order to Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) Process form 
per CRC 3.221(c). Not later than fifteen (15) days before the 120-day Case Management 
Conference prescribed by Rule 1309(d) of this Court, all counsel and self represented litigants 
shall file with the court a completed Case Management Statement [CM-110] and serve it on all 
other parties. At the Case Management Conference, the Court will make a determination of the 
amount in controversy, in the manner provided by Section 1141.16 of the Code of Civil 
Procedure. 
 
b. [ADR Consultation]  At the court’s discretion, counsel and parties may be required to attend 
a consultation with the staff of the Court’s CADRe Program within ten (10) days of the 120-day 
Case Management Conference or as otherwise directed by the court. Parties and counsel shall 
be fully prepared to discuss with the court and CADRe staff the appropriate dispute resolution 
method(s) for the case. 
 
c. [Timing, Disposition and Reporting]  If an ADR process is selected, counsel shall file with 
the court a fully-executed Stipulation and Order to Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) 
Process form within ten (10) days after the later of either: 
 
(i) the 120- day Case Management Conference, or 
(ii) the CADRe Consultation, indicating their participation in an ADR process. 
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SANTA BARBARA SUPERIOR COURT, RULE 1102, continued 
 
The parties shall conduct the ADR process within sixty (60) days of filing the ADR Stipulation, 
unless otherwise agreed to by the court. The Neutral shall file with the court a Statement of 
Agreement or Non-Agreement [ADR-100] within ten (10) days of the final ADR session. All 
reports to the Court by any mediator shall strictly comply with Section 1115 et. seq. of the 
California Evidence Code, regarding disclosure of confidential or privileged information. 
 
Cases that do not resolve through the use of an ADR process shall proceed to trial in 
accordance with these rules. Participation in an ADR process shall not affect time periods 
specified in the Trial Court Delay Reduction Act. Upon any settlement or other disposition of a 
case, other than by trial, wherein an ADR process has occurred or is pending, notice of such 
disposition shall be given to all parties, to the Court, to the arbitrator or other ADR neutral 
involved in the case, and also to the Court’s CADRe Program, in the manner required by Rule 
3.1385 of the California Rules of Court. 
 
d. [Mediation in lieu of Judicial Arbitration]  Civil cases with an amount in controversy of 
$50,000.00 or less that are subject to Judicial Arbitration (CCP §1141 et. seq.) may be ordered 
to Limited Mediation in lieu of Judicial Arbitration (CCP §1775 et. seq.) at the request of the 
parties or the discretion of the court. 
 

(Adopted 01-01-98. As amended, eff. 01-01-05) 
 
THE CADRe WEBSITE – www.sbcadre.org 
 
Please visit the CADRe website at www.sbcadre.org. There you will find comprehensive 
information on all of the CADRe neutrals, and a listing of panelists by areas of expertise. 
 
The site also includes all of the applicable rules and code sections. Also, all forms referred to in 
this brochure are available on the site in PDF format. The site also contains published articles of 
interest. 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

Santa Barbara County 
Superior Court 

CADRe Program 
 

Vance Saukko, CADRe Director 
 
 

Serving Santa Barbara/Santa Maria 
 

Santa Barbara Superior Court 
1100 Anacapa Street 

Santa Barbara, CA 93101 
 

Ph: (805) 882-4661 
Fax: (805) 882-4613 

 
(In Family Court Services, ground floor, near Dept. 6) 

 
 

E-Mail: cadre@sbcourts.org 
 

www.sbcadre.org 
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CITY AND ZIP CODE: 

BRANCH NAME: 

 

 

 

 

 

PLAINTIFF/PETITIONER: 
 
 
DEFENDANT/RESPONDENT: 
 

 

CASE NUMBER: 
 
 
 

 
STIPULATION AND ORDER TO ALTERNATIVE 

DISPUTE RESOLUTION (ADR) PROCESS 
 ASSIGNED JUDGE: 

 
MANDATORY SETTLEMENT CONFERENCE DATE (if applicable): _________________________________________ 
 
This fully executed stipulation must be returned to the CADRe office by: ______________________ (Fax 805-882-4613) 

1. STIPULATION REGARDING ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION: 
The parties hereby stipulate that all claims in this action shall be submitted to the following ADR process and the 
parties will appear at such hearing with persons having full authority to resolve the dispute pursuant to California 
Rules of Court, Rule 3.874: 
a.  Amount in Controversy is $50,000.00 or under: 
 [  ] Judicial Non-binding Arbitration (CCP 1141.12) 
 [  ] Limited Mediation with Mediator Assigned by the CADRe Office (CCP 1775) 
b.  Amount in Controversy exceeds $50,000.00: 
 [  ] Binding Arbitration 
 [  ] CADRe Mediation 
 [  ] Neutral Evaluation 
 [  ] Special Master 
 [  ] Other: ____________________________ 

 
2. THE ADR PROCESS WILL BE CONDUCTED BY: 

Neutral’s Name: ________________________________________ Phone:______________________________ 
3. THE MEDIATION (OR OTHER ADR PROCESS) WILL OCCUR ON (mm/dd/yy): _______________________ 

4. PARTY REPRESENTATIVES:  
X________________________________________ X__________________________________________ 
For Plaintiff:      For Defendant: 
Name: ____________________________________ Name: ______________________________________ 
 
Address: __________________________________ Address: ____________________________________ 
 
City/St/Zip: ________________________________ City/St/Zip: __________________________________ 
 
Tel / Fax: _________________________________ Tel / Fax: ___________________________________ 

E-Mail: ___________________________________ E-Mail: _____________________________________ 

(If additional signatures are required, please attach an additional signature page) 

IT IS SO ORDERED PURSUANT TO THE ABOVE STIPULATION: 
 
Date: ____________________     ____________________________________________ 
                    Judge of the Superior Court 
 

SC-2038 [Rev. Oct. 12, 2004] STIPULATION AND ORDER TO ALTERNATIVE  
DISPUTE RESOLUTION (ADR) PROCESS 

CRC 3.874 
 CCP 1141.12, 1775 
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